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GOVERNMENT NOTICES

UNDER THE COOPERATIVES ACT

DISSOLUTION OF COOPERATIVES

CERTIFICATE OF DISSOLUTION

Lakeview Organic Ranch Co-op Ltd.
Date: October 30, 2013
File No.: 10-1192

Winfil Consumer Cooperative Ltd.
Date: November 4, 2013 
File No.: 10-1239

Notice is hereby given that the cooperatives named hereunder shall be deemed to be dissolved pursuant to Section 345 of The Cooperatives Act 
on April 1, 2014 unless, before the date aforementioned, the relevant defaults are remedied, cause to the contrary is shown or an order is made by 
a court pursuant to Section 378 of The Cooperatives Act.

Cooperative								        File No.

Common Ground Co-op Ltd.						      10-464
Eddystone Fisheries Co-op Ltd.					     10-479
High Bluff Cooperative Community Club Inc.				    10-482
Leaf Rapids Consumers Co-op Ltd.					     10-510
Gnadenthal Water Co-op Ltd.						     10-616
Riverland Water Co-op Ltd.						      10-631
Niakwa Nursery School Co-op Inc.					     10-823
Lundar Farmers’ Market Co-op Inc.					     10-839
Delta Plains Cattle Feeders Co-op Inc.					     10-924
Crocus Trail Consumers Co-op Ltd.					     10-1163
Voyageur Communications Co-op Ltd.					     10-1169
Central Plains Cattle Breeders’ Co-op Inc.				    10-1171
Winnipeg Dance Cooperative Inc.					     10-1194
Heartland Lanes Cooperative Ltd.					     10-1208
Zenith Bay Credit Cooperative Ltd.					     10-1241

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

Balmoral Housing Co-operative Ltd.
Registered Office: A4-600 Clifton Street
Winnipeg, Manitoba
R3G 2X6
Date: December 2, 2013 
File No.: 10-1260

KEN LOFGREN 
Deputy Registrar
2034-50



812

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l

Intra-Provincial:
Authorized to operate three (3) Inter-Municipal Liveries to be based 
in The Pas, Manitoba.

Restriction:
All trips to originate and/or terminate in The Pas, Manitoba.

Anyone wishing to oppose the granting of either of the above 
applications shall file a Statement of Opposition with the Motor 
Transport Board, 200 – 301 Weston Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3E 
3H4 before 4:30 P.M., January 3, 2014.

A fee of $50.00 shall accompany the Statement of Opposition (Entry 
Applications Only).

All respondents will immediately receive from the Board a copy of 
the relevant application and supporting documents.  All respondents 
may also file with the Motor Transport Board further statements 
and other documents, certified as true and correct, within 14 days of 
receipt of the copy of the application and supporting documents or, 
on or before January 17, 2014 whichever is later.

MANITOBA MOTOR TRANSPORT BOARD
Iris Murrell

Secretary
200 – 301 Weston Street

Winnipeg, Manitoba
R3E 3H4

2050-50	 945-8912

Take notice that the Motor Transport Board intends to grant the 
following operating authorities unless a Statement of Opposition 
to the application is filed with the Motor Transport Board, 200 – 
301 Weston Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3E 3H4 by 4:30 p.m.,  
January 3, 2014.

DOCKET T12/13

Applicant	 Counsel or Representative
Graham Scott Totte				   N/A
Box 1903
The Pas MB  R9A 1L6      

Application for the Purchase of Certain Assets and Transfer of Inter-
Municipal Livery operating authority currently held in the name of 
Sherri-Lee Catherine Olson, The Pas, Manitoba. If approved, the 
authority will read as follows:

Intra-Provincial:
Authorized to operate two (2) Inter-Municipal Liveries to be based 
in The Pas, Manitoba.

Restriction:
All trips to originate and/or terminate in The Pas, Manitoba.

DOCKET T13/13

Applicant	 Counsel or Representative
6752510 Manitoba Ltd.			   N/A
Box 1903
The Pas MB  R9A 1L6      
      
Application for the Purchase of Certain Assets and Transfer of Inter-
Municipal Livery operating authority currently held in the name of 
Clarence Theodore Olson, The Pas, Manitoba. If approved, the 
authority will read as follows:

UNDER THE HIGHWAY TRAFFIC ACT

Purusant to Section 34(3) of The Elections Act public notice is hereby 
given that I have appointed the following Returning Officer.

Name			   Electoral Division
Marilyn Wakely		  Arthur-Virden 

November 29, 2013       	   Shipra Verma, CA
		  Chief Electoral Officer

2049-50	

Conformément au paragraphe 34(3) de la Loi électorale, avis public 
est donné par la présente que j’ai nommé suivantes au poste de 
directeur du scrutin.	

Nom			   Circonscription électorale
Marilyn Wakely		  Arthur-Virden 

Le 29 novembre 2013			   Shipra Verma, CA
	 Directrice générale des élections

UNDER THE ELECTIONS ACT AVIS EN VERTU DE LA LOI ÉLECTORALE
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PUBLIC NOTICES

In the matter of the Estate of Raymond Alexander 
Crawford, late of the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at their offices, P.O. 
Box 1400, Stonewall, Manitoba, R0C 2Z0 on or before the 6th day 
of January, 2014.

Dated at Stonewall, Manitoba, this 27th day of November. 2013.
GRANTHAM LAW OFFICES

2036-50	 Solicitors for the Executors

In the matter of the Estate of CYRIL GEORGE CUFF of the City 
of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed at the office of the undersigned, 246 St. 
Anne’s Road, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R2M 3A4, on or before January 
14, 2014, after which date, the Estate will be distributed having 
regard only to claims of which the Executor then has notice.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
2nd day of December, 2013.

TACIUM VINCENT ORLIKOW
Per: David G. Vincent

2054-50	 Solicitors for the Executor

In the matter of the Estate of Reginald Gordon Curtis 
late of the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 304-2265 Pembina 
Highway, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3T 5J3, on or before the 15th day 
of January, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this December 4, 2013.
BENNELL LAW CORPORATION

Randolph A. Bennell
2055-50	 Solicitor for the Executor

In the matter of the Estate of TANYA NICOLE DAMSGAARD, 
Late of the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned, at 2200-One 
Lombard Place, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 0X7, on or before the 
10th day of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this 26th day of 
November, 2013.

D’ ARCY & DEACON LLP
Attention: Grant A. Stefanson

2037-50	 Solicitor for the Estate

In the matter of the Estate of MYROSLAVA DERZKO, Late of 
the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at their offices, 724-
240 Graham Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3C 0J7, on or before 
December 31, 2013.

Dated at Winnipeg, Manitoba this 2nd day of December, 2013.
MYERS WEINBERG LLP

Attention: A. Lionel Weinberg, Q.C.
2038-50	 Solicitors for the Executor

In the matter of the Estate of NELLIE ATAMANCHUK, Late of 
the City of Dauphin, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be sent to the undersigned at P.O. Box 551, 
Dauphin, Manitoba, R7N 2V4, on or before the 13th day of January, 
2014, after which date, the Estate will be distributed having regard 
only to claims of which the Executrix then has notice.

Dated at the City of Dauphin, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
29th day of November, 2013.

JOHNSTON & COMPANY
J Douglas Deans

2051-50	 Solicitor for the Executrix

In the matter of the Estate of EDWARD JAMES BEST, Late of 
the Village of Ethelbert, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be sent to the undersigned at P.O. Box 551, 
Dauphin, Manitoba, R7N 2V4, on or before the 6th day of January, 
2014, after which date, the Estate will be distributed having regard 
only to claims of which the Executor then has notice.

Dated at the City of Dauphin, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
25th day of November, 2013.

JOHNSTON & COMPANY
J Douglas Deans

2035-50	 Solicitor for the Executor

In the matter of the Estate of ANN BREZENO, also known as 
ANNE BREZENO, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration must be filed with the undersigned at their offices at 200 
- 2727 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3J 0R2, on or before 
the 14th day of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
2nd day of December, 2013.

JACK M. RABKIN LAW OFFICE
Solicitor for the Executrices

2052-50	 (Jack M. Rabkin)

In the matter of the Estate of FREDERICK WILLIAM CORDS, 
Late of the Rural Municipality of Grandview, in the Province of 
Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be sent to the undersigned at P.O. Box 551, 
Dauphin, Manitoba, R7N 2V4, on or before the 13th day of January, 
2014, after which date, the Estate will be distributed having regard 
only to claims of which the Executor then has notice.

Dated at the City of Dauphin, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
28th day of November, 2013.

JOHNSTON & COMPANY
J Douglas Deans

2053-50	 Solicitor for the Executor

UNDER THE TRUSTEE ACT
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In the matter of the Estate of YVON FILION, late of the Town of 
Altona, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above-mentioned Estate supported by a 
Statutory Declaration must be sent to the undersigned at 85 PTH. 12 
North, Steinbach, Manitoba, R5G 1A7, on or before the 23rd day of 
January, 2014.

Dated at Steinbach, Manitoba, this 3rd day of December, 2013.
Smith Neufeld Jodoin LLP

85 PTH 12 North
Steinbach, Manitoba

R5G 1A7
Attention: Gerard J. Simard

2056-50	 (Solicitors for the Executrix)

In the matter of the Estate of Kathleen Alice Henry late 
of the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 304-2265 Pembina 
Highway, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3T 5J3, on or before the 15th day 
of January, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this December 4, 2013.
BENNELL LAW CORPORATION

Randolph A. Bennell
2057-50	 Solicitor for the Executrix

In the matter of the Estate of Rae Yvonne Hoefer late of 
the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 304-2265 Pembina 
Highway, Winnipeg. Manitoba, R3T 5J3, on or before the 15th day 
of January, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this December 4, 2013.
BENNELL LAW CORPORATION

Randolph A. Bennell
2058-50	 Solicitor for the Executor

In the matter of the Estate of CLIFFORD HARVEY LAMY, Late 
of the Rural Municipality of Dauphin, in the Province of Manitoba, 
Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be sent to the undersigned at P.O. Box 551, 
Dauphin, Manitoba, R7N 2V4, on or before the 13th day of January, 
2014, after which date, the Estate will be distributed having regard 
only to claims of which the Executor then has notice.

Dated at the City of Dauphin, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
28th day of November, 2013.

JOHNSTON & COMPANY
J Douglas Deans

2060-50	 Solicitor for the Executor

In the matter of the Estate of ANTHONY JOSEPH 
LEVANDOSKI, also known as TONY LEVANDOSKI, and also 
known as ANTON LEVANDOSKI, Late of the City of Winnipeg, in 
the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be sent to Pollock & Company, Barristers and 
Solicitors, 1120 - 363 Broadway, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3C 3N9, to 
the attention of Jordan Lee-Wing, on or before December 31, 2013.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
27th day of November, 2013.

POLLOCK & COMPANY
2039-50	 Solicitors for the Executrix

In the matter of the Estate of EDMUND MARETZKI, Late of the 
City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned, at 2200-One 
Lombard Place, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 0X7, on or before the 
10th day of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this 26th day of 
November, 2013.

D’ARCY & DEACON LLP
Attention: Walter Thiessen

2040-50	 Solicitor for the Estate

In the matter of the Estate of MARIA MATWICHUK, Late of the 
City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at their offices, 1700- 
360 Main Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 3Z3, on or before the 
14th day of January, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, Manitoba, this 15th day of December, 2013.
FILLMORE RILEY LLP

Attention: Johanna C. C. Caithness
2059-50	 Solicitors for the Executors

In the matter of the Estate of MARGARET JEAN MUNDRICK, 
Late of the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration must be filed with the undersigned at 2643 Portage 
Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3J 0P9, on or before January 15, 
2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, December 2nd, 2013.
HABING LAVIOLETTE

2061-50	 Solicitors for the Estate.

In the matter of the Estate of JOHN PAULS, Late of the City of 
Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 387 Broadway 
Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3C 0V5, on or before the 17th day 
of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this 13th day of 
December, 2013.

BOOTH DENNEHY LLP
Per: Donald B. Ernst, Q.C.

2041-50	 Solicitors for the Executors

In the matter of the Estate of SUSANNA PECKOVER (also 
known as SUSANA PECKOVER), Late of the City of Winnipeg, in 
the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned, at 2200-One 
Lombard Place, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 0X7, on or before the 
10th day of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this 26th day of 
November, 2013.

D’ARCY & DEACON LLP
Attention: Walter Thiessen

2042-50	 Solicitor for the Estate
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In the matter of the Estate of Maria Procyshyn, late of the 
City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 812 - 363 
Broadway, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 3N9 within 30 days of the date 
of publication.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba this 28th day of 
November, 2013.

TERRY P. BELEY
Fishman Beley

2043-50	 Lawyers for the Executors

In the matter of the estate of ANNE ROBENA RUTHERFORD, 
Late of the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at their offices, 2500 
- 360 Main Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3C 4H6, on or before the 
10th day of January, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, Manitoba, this 28th day of November, 2013.
PITBLADO LLP

Attention: David G. Newman, Q.C.
2044-50	 Solicitors for the Executors

In the matter of the Estate of Gary VIctor Sampson, late 
of Winnipeg, Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, supported by Statutory 
Declaration must be sent to the attention of: Gail Colomy, Estates 
Officer, at 155 Carlton St Suite 500, Winnipeg MB, R3C 5R9 on or 
before the 3rd day of February, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, Manitoba, this 27th day of November, 2013.
JOANNA K. KNOWLTON

The Public Trustee of Manitoba
2062-50	 Administrator

In .the matter of the Estate of Johanna Smith, late of 
Arborg, Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, supported by Statutory 
Declaration must be sent to the attention of: Gail Colomy, Estates 
Officer, at 155 Carlton St Suite 500, Winnipeg MB, R3C 5R9 on or 
before the 29th day of January, 2014.

Dated at Winnipeg, Manitoba, this 22nd day of November, 2013.
JOANNA K. KNOWLTON

The Public Trustee of Manitoba
2045-50	 Administrator

In the matter of the Estate of ALEXANDER THOMSON, 
Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration must be filed with the undersigned at their offices at 200 
- 2727 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3J 0R2, on or before 
the 12th day of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, this 
2nd day of December, 2013.

JACK M. RABKIN LAW OFFICE
Solicitor for the Executrices

2063-50	 (Jack M. Rabkin)

In the matter of the Estate of MARGARET ELIZABETH 
VERNON, Late of the City of Winnipeg, in the Province of Manitoba, 
Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned, at 2200-One 
Lombard Place, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 0X7, on or before the 
10th day of January, 2014.

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this 26th day of 
November, 2013.

D’ARCY & DEACON LLP
Attention: H.K. Irving, Q.C.

2046-50	 Solicitors for the Estate

In the matter of the Estate of ELEANOR ANITA WALTERSON, 
Late of the Rural Municipality of West St. Paul, in the Province of 
Manitoba, Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 619 St. Mary’s 
Road, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R2M 3L8 on or before January 14, 2014. 

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba this 26th day of 
November, 2013.

ST. MARY’S LAW LLP
Solicitors for the Executor

2047-50	 (Attention: Sharon L. Tod)

In the matter of the Estate of BRIAN RONALD WHITEWAY, 
Late of the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Commercial Loan Officer, 
Deceased:

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be sent to the undersigned at their offices 300-
326 Broadway, Winnipeg Manitoba R3C 0S5 on or before the 1st of 
January, 2014.

Midori Adachi, Barrister & Solicitor
2064-50	 In Association with Broadway Law Group

In the matter of the Estate of EDNA IRENE WONSCH, Late of 
the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, Deceased: 

All claims against the above Estate, duly verified by Statutory 
Declaration, must be filed with the undersigned at 440-5 Donald 
Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3L 2T4 on or before the 31st day of 
January, 2014. 

Dated at the City of Winnipeg, in Manitoba, this 4th day of 
December, 2013.

KARASEVICH WINDSOR JENION HEDLEY LLP 
Solicitors for the Executrix 

2065-50	 Robert C. Jenion
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THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-31 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 
 

AMENDMENTS TO 
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 81-106 

INVESTMENT FUND CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE 
 
 
Although this amendment instrument amends section headers in National Instrument 81-106, section headers 
do not form part of the instrument and are inserted for ease of reference only. 
 
1. National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure is amended by this instrument. 
 
2. Section 1.1 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) adding the following after the definition of "EVCC": 
 

"financial statements" includes interim financial reports;; 
 
(b) repealing the definition of "net asset value" and substituting the following: 
 

"net asset value" means the value of the total assets of the investment fund less the value of the total 
liabilities, other than net assets attributable to securityholders, of the investment fund, as at a specific 
date, determined in accordance with Part 14;; 

 
(c) adding the following after the definition of "non-redeemable investment fund": 
 

  "publicly accountable enterprise" means a publicly accountable enterprise as defined in the 
Handbook;; and 

 
(d) adding the following after the definition of "scholarship plan": 
 

"statement of changes in financial position" means a statement of changes in equity or a statement of 
changes in net assets attributable to securityholders;. 

 
3. Section 2.1 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "statement of net assets" in paragraph (1)(a) wherever it occurs and substituting "statement 
of financial position"; 

 
(b) striking out "statement of operations" in paragraph (1)(b) wherever it occurs and substituting 
"statement of comprehensive income"; 

 
(c) striking out "statement of changes in net assets" in paragraph (1)(c) wherever it occurs and substituting 
"statement of changes in financial position";  

 
(d) repealing paragraph (1)(d) and substituting the following: 

 
(d) for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, a statement of cash flows for that financial 
year and a statement of cash flows for the immediately preceding financial year;; and 

 



817

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l2 
 

(e) striking out "; and" at the end of paragraph (1)(e) and repealing paragraph (1)(f) and substituting the 
following: 

 
(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the immediately preceding financial year if 
the investment fund discloses in its annual financial statements an unreserved statement of compliance 
with IFRS and the investment fund: 

 
(i) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual financial statements,  

(ii) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual financial statements, or 

(iii) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements; and 

(g) notes to the annual financial statements. 
 

4. Section 2.3 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Interim Financial Statements" and substituting "Interim Financial Report"; 
 

(b) striking out "interim financial statements" and substituting "an interim financial report"; 
 

(c) striking out "include" and substituting "includes"; 
 

(d) striking out "statement of net assets" in paragraph (a) wherever it occurs and substituting "statement of 
financial position"; 

 
(e) striking out "statement of operations" in paragraph (b) wherever it occurs and substituting "statement 
of comprehensive income"; 

 
(f) striking out "statement of changes in net assets" in paragraph (c) wherever it occurs and substituting 
"statement of changes in financial position";  

 
(g) repealing paragraph (d) and substituting the following: 

 
(d) for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, a statement of cash flows for that interim 
period and a statement of cash flows for the corresponding period in the immediately preceding 
financial year;; and 

 
(h) repealing paragraph (f) and substituting the following: 

 
(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the immediately preceding financial year if 
the investment fund discloses in its interim financial report an unreserved statement of compliance with 
International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting and the investment fund 
 

(i) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim  financial report,  

(ii) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim financial report, or 

(iii) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and 

(g) notes to the interim financial report. 
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5. Section 2.4 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Interim Financial Statements" and substituting "Interim Financial Report"; and 
 

(b) striking out "interim financial statements" and substituting "interim financial report". 
 
6. Section 2.6 of National Instrument 81-106 is repealed and substituted by the following: 
 

Acceptable accounting principles 
2.6(1) For financial years beginning before January 1, 2014, the financial statements of an 
investment fund must be prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to public enterprises. 

2.6(2) For financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, the financial statements of an 
investment fund must be prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable 
enterprises. 

2.6(3) Financial statements must be prepared in accordance with the same accounting principles for 
all periods presented in the financial statements. 

 
7. Section 2.7 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by repealing subsection (2) and substituting the 
following: 
 

2.7(2) For financial years beginning before January 1, 2014, audited financial statements must be 
accompanied by an auditor’s report prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAS and the following 
requirements: 

  
1. The auditor’s report must not contain a reservation or express a modified opinion. 
 
2. The auditor’s report must identify all financial periods presented for which the auditor has issued an 
auditor’s report.   
 
3. If the investment fund has changed its auditor and a comparative period presented in the financial 
statements was audited by a different auditor, the auditor’s report must refer to the former auditor’s 
report on the comparative period. 
 
4. The auditor’s report must identify the auditing standards used to conduct the audit and the accounting 
principles used to prepare the financial statements.  

 
2.7(3) For financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, audited financial statements must 
be accompanied by an auditor’s report prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAS and the following 
requirements: 

 
1. The auditor’s report expresses an unmodified opinion. 

 
2. The auditor’s report identifies all financial periods presented for which the auditor has issued an 
auditor’s report.   

 
3. The auditor’s report is in the form specified by Canadian GAAS for an audit of financial statements 
prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework. 

 
4. The auditor’s report refers to IFRS as the applicable fair presentation framework. 
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5. If the investment fund has changed its auditor and a comparative period presented in the financial 
statements was audited by a predecessor auditor, the financial statements are accompanied by the 
predecessor auditor’s report on the comparative period or the auditor’s report refers to the predecessor 
auditor’s report on the comparative period. 

 
8. Section 2.9 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "interim financial statements" wherever it occurs and substituting "an interim financial 
report"; 
 
(b) striking out "statement of net assets" wherever it occurs and substituting "statement of financial 
position"; 
 
(c) striking out "statement of operations" wherever it occurs and substituting "statement of comprehensive 
income"; 
 
(d) striking out "statement of changes in net assets" wherever it occurs and substituting "statement of 
changes in financial position"; 
 
(e) striking out "statement of cashflows" wherever it occurs and substituting "statement of cash flows"; 
 
(f) in subsection (4), striking out "subsections 4.8(7) and (8)" and substituting "paragraphs 4.8(7)(a) and (b) 
and (8)(a) and (b)"; and 
 
(g) striking out ", if applicable," in subparagraph (4)(a)(ii) and subparagraph (4)(b)(ii). 

 
9. Section 2.10 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended in paragraph (j) by striking out "interim and annual 
financial statements" and substituting "interim financial report and annual financial statements". 
 
10. Section 2.12 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Interim Financial Statements" and substituting "Interim Financial Report";  
 

(b) striking out "interim financial statements" wherever it occurs and substituting "interim financial 
report"; and 

 
(c) in subsection (2), striking out "have" and substituting "has". 

 
11. Section 3.1 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Statement of Net Assets" and substituting "Statement of Financial Position"; 
 

(b) striking out "statement of net assets" and substituting "statement of financial position"; 
 

(c) repealing paragraph 14 and substituting the following: 
 

14. total equity or net assets attributable to securityholders and, if applicable, for each class or series.; 
and 

 
(d) repealing paragraph 15 and substituting the following: 

 
15. total equity per security or net assets attributable to securityholders per security, or if applicable, per 
security of each class or series. 
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12. Section of 3.2 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Statement of Operations" and substituting "Statement of Comprehensive 
Income"; 

 
(b) striking out "statement of operations" and substituting "statement of comprehensive income"; 

 
(c) repealing paragraph 12; 

 
(d) striking out "provision for" in paragraph 14; 

 
(e) repealing paragraph 15; 

 
(f) adding the following after paragraph 17: 

 
17.1 if recognized as an expense, distributions, showing separately the amount distributed out of net 
investment income and out of realized gains on portfolio assets sold.; 

 
(g) repealing paragraph 18 and substituting the following: 

 
18. increase or decrease in total equity from operations, or in net assets attributable to securityholders 
from operations, excluding distributions, and, if applicable, for each class or series.; and 

 
(h) repealing paragraph 19 and substituting the following: 

 
19. increase or decrease in total equity from operations per security, or in net assets attributable to 
securityholders from operations, excluding distributions, per security or, if applicable, per security of 
each class or series. 

 
13. Section 3.3 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Statement of Changes in Net Assets" and substituting "Statement of Changes in 
Financial Position"; 

 
(b) striking out "statement of changes in net assets" and substituting "statement of changes in financial 
position"; 

 
(c)repealing paragraph 1 and substituting the following: 

 
1. total equity or net assets attributable to securityholders at the beginning of the period.; 

 
(d) repealing paragraph 2; 

 
(e) repealing paragraph 6 and substituting the following: 

 
6. if not recognized as an expense, distributions, showing separately the  amount distributed out of net 
investment income and out of realized gains on portfolio assets sold. 

 
6.1 return of capital.; and 

 
(f) repealing paragraph 7 and substituting the following: 

 
7. total equity or net assets attributable to securityholders at the end of the period.  
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14. Section 3.4 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) in the title, striking out "Statement of Cashflows" and substituting "Statement of Cash Flows"; 
 

(b) striking out "statement of cashflows" and substituting "statement of cash flows"; 
 

(c) repealing paragraph 1; and 
 

(d) repealing paragraph 3 and substituting the following: 
 

3. payments for the purchase of portfolio assets. 
 
15. Section 3.6 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) adding the following after paragraph 3.6(1)1: 
 

1.1 for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, the basis for classifying the investment 
fund’s outstanding securities, or each class or series of outstanding securities, as either equity 
instruments or financial liabilities.; 

 
(b) striking out "statement of changes in net assets" in paragraph (1)4 and substituting "statement of 
changes in financial position"; 

 
(c) repealing paragraph (1)5 and substituting the following: 

 
5. the net asset value per security as at the date of the financial statements compared to the total equity 
per security or net assets attributable to securityholders per security as shown on the statement of 
financial position, and an explanation of each of the differences between these amounts.; and 

  
(d) adding the following after subsection 3.6(2): 

 
3.6(3)  For financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, the notes to the financial 
statements must disclose 

 
(a) in the case of annual financial statements, an unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; 
and 
 
(b) in the case of interim financial reports, an unreserved statement of compliance with 
International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting. 

 
16. Section 3.8 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "statement of net assets" in subsection (2) and substituting "statement of financial position"; 
and 

 
(b) striking out "statement of operations" in subsection (3) and substituting "statement of comprehensive 
income". 
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17. Section 3.9 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "statement of net assets" wherever it occurs in subsection 3.9(2) and substituting "statement 
of financial position"; and 

 
(b) striking out "statement of operations" in subsection 3.9(3) and substituting "statement of comprehensive 
income". 

 
18. Section 3.10 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "statement of net assets" in subsection 3.10(2) and substituting "statement of financial 
position"; and 

 
(b) striking out "statement of operations" in subsection 3.10(3) and substituting "statement of 
comprehensive income". 

 
19. Section 3.11 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "statement of net assets" in subparagraph (1)(a)(iii) and substituting "statement of financial 
position";  

 
(b) striking out "statement of operations" in paragraph (1)(c) and substituting "statement of comprehensive 
income"; and 

 
(c) repealing subsection 3.11(2) and substituting the following: 

 
3.11(2)  Despite sections 3.1 and 3.2, an investment fund that is a scholarship plan may omit 
the "total equity per security or net assets attributable to securityholders per security" and "increase or 
decrease in total equity from operations per security, or in net assets attributable to securityholders from 
operations, excluding distributions, per security" line items from its financial statements.  

 
20. Section 4.2 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by striking out "interim financial statements" and 
substituting "interim financial report". 
 
21. Section 5.1 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended in paragraph (2)(b) by striking out "interim 
financial statements" and substituting "the interim financial report". 
 
22. Section 8.2 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended in paragraph (d) by striking out "interim financial 
statements" and substituting "an interim financial report". 
 
23. Section 8.4 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by striking out "the net assets" and substituting "of 
the total equity or net assets attributable to securityholders". 
 
24. Section 8.5 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended in paragraph (b) by striking out "[net assets/venture 
investments]" and substituting "[total equity/net assets attributable to securityholders/venture investments]". 
 
25. Section 15.1 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by repealing clause (1)(a)(i)(A) and substituting 
the following: 
 

(A) total expenses of the investment fund, excluding distributions if recognized as an expense, 
commissions and other portfolio transaction costs, before income taxes, for the financial year or interim 
period, as shown on its statement of comprehensive income; and . 
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26. Section 15.2 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by 
 

(a) repealing subparagraph (1)(a)(i) and substituting the following: 
 

(i) multiplying the total expenses of each underlying investment fund, excluding distributions if 
recognized as an expense, commissions and other portfolio transaction costs, before income taxes, for 
the financial year or interim period, by ; and 

 
(b) repealing paragraph (1)(b) and substituting the following: 

 
(b) the total expenses of the investment fund, excluding distributions if recognized as an expense, 
commissions and other portfolio transaction costs, before income taxes, for the period. 

 
27. Part 18 of National Instrument 81-106 is amended by adding the following before section 18.6: 
 

Transition to IFRS 
18.5.1(1)  For the first interim period in the financial year beginning on or after January 1, 
2014, an investment fund must file, with its interim financial report for that interim period, an opening 
statement of financial position as at the date of transition to IFRS. 
 
18.5.1(2)  For the first financial year beginning on or after January 1, 2014, an investment fund 
must file, with its annual financial statements for that financial year, an audited opening statement of 
financial position as at the date of transition to IFRS. 
 
18.5.1(3)  Despite sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 3.6, for financial years beginning before 
January 1, 2014, an investment fund may present line items and use terminology in its financial statements 
consistent with the immediately preceding financial year. 

 
28. Part A, Item 1 of Form 81-106F1 Contents of Annual and Interim Management Report of Fund 
Performance is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "This concept of materiality is consistent with the financial reporting notion of materiality 
contained in the Handbook." in paragraph (e); and 

 
(b) striking out the first sentence in paragraph (f) and substituting the following: 

 
All references to "net assets" or "net assets per security" in this Form are references to total equity or net 
assets attributable to securityholders determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP as presented in the 
financial statements of the investment fund.  

 
29. Part B, Item 1 of Form 81-106F1 is amended by repealing the third paragraph and substituting the 
following: 
 

Securityholders may also contact us using one of these methods to request a copy of the investment fund’s 
interim financial report, proxy voting policies and procedures, proxy voting disclosure record or quarterly 
portfolio disclosure. 

 
30. Part B, Item 3, section 3.1 of Form 81-106F1 is amended by 
  

(a) in subsection (1), striking out "total expenses" in The Fund’s Net Assets Per [Unit/Share] table and 
substituting "total expenses [excluding distributions]"; 
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(b) in subsection (1), striking out "From income (excluding dividends)" in The Fund’s Net Assets Per 
[Unit/Share] table and substituting "From net investment income (excluding dividends)"; 
 
(c) in subsection (1), striking out "(excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs)" in 
footnote (2) to the Ratios and Supplemental Data table and substituting "(excluding [distributions], 
commissions and other portfolio transaction costs)"; and 

 
(d) adding the following after subsection (7): 

 
(7.1)(a) For financial years beginning before January 1, 2014, the financial highlights may be derived 
from the investment fund’s financial statements prepared in accordance with subsection 2.6(1) of the 
Instrument. 

 
(b) For financial periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, derive the financial highlights from the 
investment fund’s financial statements prepared in accordance with subsection 2.6(2) of the Instrument. 
 
(c) Despite paragraph (a), in an annual MRFP for a financial year beginning on or after January 1, 2014, 
derive the financial highlights for the immediately preceding financial year from financial statements 
prepared in accordance with subsection 2.6(2) of the Instrument. 
 
(d) If the financial highlights relate to financial periods beginning both before and on or after January 1, 
2014, disclose, in a note to the table, the accounting principles applicable to each period. 

 
31. Part B, Item 3, section 3.2 of Form 81-106F1 is amended by  
  

(a) striking out "Balance Sheet" in the Financial & Operating Highlights (with comparative figures) table 
and substituting "Statement of Financial Position"; and 
 
(b) striking out "Statement of Operations" in the Financial & Operating Highlights (with comparative 
figures) table and substituting "Statement of Comprehensive Income". 

 
32. Part C, Item 1 of Form 81-106F1 is amended by repealing the second paragraph and substituting the 
following: 
 

"This interim management report of fund performance contains financial highlights but does not contain 
either the interim financial report or annual financial statements of the investment fund.  You can get a 
copy of the interim financial report or annual financial statements at your request, and at no cost, by calling 
[toll-free/collect call telephone number], by writing to us at [insert address] or by visiting our website at 
[insert address] or SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 
33. This Instrument comes into force on January 1, 2014. 
 
34. This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-31. 
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THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-32 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 
 

AMENDMENTS TO 
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 41-101 

GENERAL PROSPECTUS REQUIREMENTS 
 

 
Although this amendment instrument amends section headers in National Instrument 41-101, 
section headers do not form part of the instrument and are inserted for ease of reference only. 
 
1. National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements is amended by this instrument. 
 
2. The general instructions of Form 41-101F2 Information Required in an Investment Fund 
Prospectus are amended in instruction (3) by striking out "This concept of materiality is 
consistent with the financial reporting notion of materiality contained in the Handbook." 
 
3. Section 1.5 of Form 41-101F2 is amended by striking out "reporting". 
 
4. Section 1.15 of Form 41-101F2 is amended by striking out ”interim financial statements” and 
substituting ”interim financial report”. 
 
5. Subsection 3.6(4) of Form 41-101F2 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out ""MER" means management expense ratio based on total expenses, excluding 
commissions and other portfolio transaction costs and expressed as an annualized percentage 
of daily average net asset value.” and substituting ""MER" means management expense ratio 
based on management fees and operating expenses (excluding commissions and other 
portfolio transaction costs) expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net asset 
value.”, and 
 
(b) striking out ""TER" means trading expense ratio and represents total commissions and 
portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net asset 
value." and substituting ""TER" means trading expense ratio and represents total commissions 
and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average 
net asset value.”. 

 
6. Section 11.1 of Form 41-101F2 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out ""MER" means management expense ratio based on total expenses, excluding 
commissions and other portfolio transaction costs and expressed as an annualized percentage 
of daily average net asset value." and substituting ""MER" means management expense ratio 
based on management fees and operating expenses (excluding commissions and other 
portfolio transaction costs) expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net asset 
value.", and 
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(b) striking out ""TER" means trading expense ratio and represents total commissions and 
portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net asset 
value.” and substituting ""TER" means trading expense ratio and represents total 
commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of 
daily average net asset value.”. 

 
7. Section 37.1 of Form 41-101F2 is amended by striking out "interim financial statements" and 
substituting "interim financial report". 
 
8. Subsection 38.1(4) of Form 41-101F2 is amended by striking out "opening balance sheet" and 
substituting "opening statement of financial position". 
 
9. Section 38.2 of Form 41-101F2 is amended by striking out "Interim Financial Statements" and 
substituting "Interim Financial Reports" in the section header. 
 
10. This Instrument comes into force on January 1, 2014. 
 
11. This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-32. 



827

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l

THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-33 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 
 

AMENDMENTS TO 
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 81-101 

MUTUAL FUND PROSPECTUS DISCLOSURE 
 
 
1. National Instrument 81-101 Mutual Fund Prospectus Disclosure is amended by this 
instrument. 
 
2. Section 1.1 of National Instrument 81-101 is amended by adding the following after the 
definition of "executive officer": 
 

"financial statements" includes interim financial reports;. 
 
3. Clause 2.3(1)(b)(i)(A) of National Instrument 81-101 is amended by striking out "draft 
opening balance sheet" and substituting "draft opening statement of financial position". 
 
4. Subparagraph 2.3(3)(a)(ii) of National Instrument 81-101 is amended by striking out "audited 
balance sheet" and substituting "audited statement of financial position". 
 
5. Section 3.1 of National Instrument 81-101 is amended by 
 

(a) striking out "interim financial statements" wherever it occurs and substituting "interim 
financial report", and 

 
 (b) striking out "audited balance sheet" in paragraph 1.3 and substituting "audited statement 
of financial position". 

 
6. Section 3.1.1 of National Instrument 81-101 is amended by striking out "interim financial 
statements" and substituting "interim financial reports". 
 
7. Section 3.1 of Part A of Form 81-101F1 Contents of Simplified Prospectus is amended by 
striking out "interim financial statements" and substituting "interim financial report". 
 
8. Section 3.2 of Part A of Form 81-101F1 is amended by striking out "interim financial 
statements" and substituting "interim financial report". 
 
9. This Instrument comes into force on January 1, 2014. 
 
10. This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-33. 
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THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-34 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 
 

AMENDMENTS TO 
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 81-102 

MUTUAL FUNDS 
 
 
1. National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds is amended by this instrument. 
 
2. Section 1.1 of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by 
 

(a) repealing the definition of "net asset value" and substituting the following: 
 

"net asset value" means the value of the total assets of the investment fund less the value 
of the total liabilities, other than net assets attributable to securityholders, of the investment 
fund, as at a specific date, determined in accordance with Part 14 of National Instrument 
81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure;, and 

 
(b) in the definition of "report to securityholders", striking out "annual or interim financial 
statements" and substituting "annual financial statements or interim financial reports". 

 
3. Subparagraph 5.6(1)(f)(iii) of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by striking out "annual 
and interim financial statements" and substituting "annual financial statements and interim 
financial reports". 
 
4. Subsection 5.6(2) of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by striking out "contains a 
reservation" and substituting "contains a modified opinion". 
 
5. Section 6.2 of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by striking out "shareholders’ equity" 
wherever it occurs and substituting "equity". 
 
6. Section 6.3 of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by striking out "shareholders’ equity" 
wherever it occurs and substituting "equity". 
 
7. Paragraph 15.8(3)(b) of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by striking out "balance 
sheet" and substituting "statement of financial position". 
 
8. Appendix B-1 – Audit Report, Appendix B-2 – Audit Report, and Appendix B-3 – Audit Report 
of National Instrument 81-102 are amended by striking out "We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the standards for assurance engagements established by The Canadian Institute 
of Chartered Accountants." and substituting "We conducted our audit in accordance with 
standards for assurance engagements set out in the CICA Handbook – Assurance.". 
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9. Appendix B-1 – Audit Report of National Instrument 81-102 is amended by striking out "In our 
opinion, the Fund’s report presents fairly, in all material respects, the Fund’s compliance for the 
year ended [insert date]" and substituting "In our opinion, the Fund’s statement of compliance 
for the year ended [insert date] complies, in all material respects,". 
 
10. Appendix B-2 – Audit Report and Appendix B-3 – Audit Report of National Instrument 81-
102 are amended by striking out "In our opinion, the Company’s report presents fairly, in all 
material respects, the Company’s compliance for the year ended [insert date]" and substituting 
"In our opinion, the Company’s statement of compliance for the year ended [insert date] 
complies, in all material respects,". 
 
11. This instrument comes into force on January 1, 2014. 
 
12. This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-34. 
 

THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-35 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 
 

AMENDMENTS TO 
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 81-104 

COMMODITY POOLS 
 
 
1. National Instrument 81-104 Commodity Pools is amended by this instrument. 
 
2. Subsection 8.5(1) of National Instrument 81-104 is amended by striking out "interim financial 
statements" and substituting "interim financial reports". 
 
3. This Instrument comes into force on January 1, 2014. 
 
4. This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-35. 
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THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-36 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 

MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 91-506 
DERIVATIVES: PRODUCT DETERMINATION 

 
 
Application 
1  This Rule applies to Manitoba Securities Commission Rule 91-507 (MSC Rule 2013-37) – Trade 
Repositories and Derivatives Data Reporting. 
 
Excluded derivatives 
2(1)  A contract or instrument is prescribed not to be a derivative if it is 
 

(a) regulated by,  
 

(i) gaming control legislation of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, or  
 
(ii) gaming control legislation of a foreign jurisdiction, if the contract or instrument  

 
(A) is entered into outside of Canada,  
 
(B) is not in violation of legislation of Canada or Manitoba, and  
 
(C) would be regulated under gaming control legislation of Canada or Manitoba if it had been entered into in 
Manitoba; 

 
(b) an insurance or annuity contract entered into,  

 
(i) with an insurer holding a licence under insurance legislation of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada and 
regulated as insurance under that legislation, or  
 
(ii) outside of Canada with an insurer holding a licence under insurance legislation of a foreign jurisdiction, if it 
would be regulated as insurance under insurance legislation of Canada or Manitoba if it had been entered into in 
Manitoba; 

 
(c) a contract or instrument for the purchase and sale of currency that, 

 
(i) except where all or part of the delivery of the currency referenced in the contract or instrument is rendered 
impossible or commercially unreasonable by an intervening event or occurrence not reasonably within the control 
of the parties, their affiliates or their agents, requires settlement by the delivery of the currency referenced in the 
contract or instrument, 

 
(A) within two business days, or 

 
(B) after two business days provided that the contract or instrument was entered into contemporaneously with 
a related security trade and the contract or instrument requires settlement on or before the relevant security 
trade settlement deadline,  

 
(ii) is intended by the counterparties, at the time of the execution of the transaction, to be settled by the delivery of 
the currency referenced in the contract within the time periods set out in subparagraph (i), and 

 
(iii) does not allow for the contract or instrument to be rolled over;  

 
(d) a contract or instrument for delivery of a commodity other than cash or currency that,  
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(i) is intended by the counterparties, at the time of execution of the transaction, to be settled by delivery of the 
commodity, and 

 
(ii) does not allow for cash settlement in place of delivery except where all or part of the delivery is rendered 
impossible or commercially unreasonable by an intervening event or occurrence not reasonably within the control 
of the counterparties, their affiliates, or their agents; 

 
(e) evidence of a deposit issued by a bank listed in Schedule I, II or III to the Bank Act (Canada), by an association to 
which the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada) applies or by a company to which the Trust and Loan 
Companies Act (Canada) applies; 

 
(f) evidence of a deposit issued by a credit union or league to which the Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 
C.C.S.M., c.301 or a similar statute of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada (other than Manitoba) applies or by a loan 
corporation or trust corporation registered under Part XXIV The Corporations Act (Manitoba) or a similar statute of a 
jurisdiction of Canada (other than Manitoba); or  

 
(g) traded on an exchange recognized by a securities regulatory authority, an exchange exempt from recognition by a 
securities regulatory authority or an exchange that is regulated in a foreign jurisdiction by a signatory to the 
International Organization of Securities Commissions’ Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding. 

 
2(2)  For the purposes of paragraph (1)(g), an exchange does not include a derivatives trading facility.   

 
Investment contracts and over-the-counter options 
3  A contract or instrument, other than a contract or instrument to which section 2 applies, that is a 
derivative, and that is otherwise a security solely by reason of being an investment contract under paragraph (m) of the 
definition of “security” in subsection 1(1) of the Act, or being an option described in paragraph (d) of that definition, that 
is not described in section 5, is prescribed not to be a security. 
 
Derivatives that are securities 
4  A contract or instrument, other than a contract or instrument to which any of sections 2 and 3 apply, that 
is a security and would otherwise be a derivative is prescribed not to be a derivative. 
 
Derivatives prescribed to be securities 
5  A contract or instrument that is a security and would otherwise be a derivative, other than a contract or 
instrument to which any of sections 2 to 4 apply, is prescribed not to be a derivative if such contract or instrument is used 
by an issuer or affiliate of an issuer solely to compensate an employee or service provider or as a financing instrument 
and whose underlying interest is a share or stock of that issuer or its affiliate. 
 
Effective date 
6 This Instrument comes into force on December 31, 2013.  
 
Citation 
7. This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-36. 
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THE MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION 
MSC Rule No. 2013-37 

(Section 149.1, The Securities Act) 
 

MANITOBA SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 91-507 
TRADE REPOSITORIES AND DERIVATIVES DATA REPORTING 

 
 

PART 1 – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 
 
Definitions 
1(1)  In this Rule 
 

"asset class" means the asset category underlying a derivative and includes interest rate, foreign exchange, 
credit, equity and commodity; 
 
"board of directors" means, in the case of a designated trade repository that does not have a board of 
directors, a group of individuals that acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors; 
 
"creation data" means the data in the fields listed in Appendix A; 
  
"derivatives dealer" means a person or company engaging in or holding himself, herself or itself out as 
engaging in the business of trading in derivatives in Manitoba as principal or agent; 
 
"derivatives data" means all data related to a transaction that is required to be reported pursuant to Part 3; 
 
"Global Legal Entity Identifier System" means the system for unique identification of parties to financial 
transactions developed by the Legal Entity Identifier System Regulatory Oversight Committee; 
 
"Legal Entity Identifier System Regulatory Oversight Committee" means the international working 
group established by the Finance Ministers and the Central Bank Governors of the Group of Twenty 
nations and the Financial Stability Board, under the Charter of the Regulatory Oversight Committee for the 
Global Legal Entity Identifier System dated November 5, 2012; 
 
"life-cycle event" means an event that results in a change to derivatives data previously reported to a 
designated trade repository in respect of a transaction; 
 
"life-cycle event data" means changes to creation data resulting from a life-cycle event; 
 
"local counterparty" means a counterparty to a transaction if, at the time of the transaction, one or more of 
the following apply: 

 
(a)  the counterparty is a person or company, other than an individual, organized under the laws of 
Manitoba or that has its head office or principal place of business in Manitoba;  
 
(b) the counterparty is registered under Manitoba securities law as a derivatives dealer or in an 
alternative category as a consequence of trading in derivatives;  
 
(c) the counterparty is an affiliate of a person or company described in paragraph (a), and such person or 
company is responsible for the liabilities of that affiliated party; 

 
"participant" means a person or company that has entered into an agreement with a designated trade 
repository to access the services of the designated trade repository; 
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"reporting counterparty" means the counterparty to a transaction as determined under section 25 that is 
required to report derivatives data under section 26; 

 
"transaction" means entering into, assigning, selling or otherwise acquiring or disposing of a derivative or 
the novation of a derivative; 

 
"user" means, in respect of a designated trade repository, a counterparty (or delegate of a counterparty) to a 
transaction reported to that designated trade repository pursuant to this Rule; and 

 
"valuation data" means data that reflects the current value of the transaction and includes the data in the 
applicable fields listed in Appendix A under the heading "Valuation Data". 

 
1(2)  In this Rule, each of the following terms has the same meaning as in National Instrument 52-
107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards: "accounting principles"; "auditing standards"; 
"publicly accountable enterprise"; "U.S. AICPA GAAS"; "U.S. GAAP"; and "U.S. PCAOB GAAS". 
 
1(3)  In this Rule, "interim period" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations. 

 
 

PART 2 – TRADE REPOSITORY DESIGNATION AND ONGOING REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
Trade repository initial filing of information and designation 
2(1)  An applicant for designation under section 31.6 of the Act must file a completed Form 91-
507F1 – Application For Designation and Trade Repository Information Statement.  
 
2(2)  In addition to the requirement set out in subsection (1), an applicant for designation under 
section 31.6 of the Act whose head office or principal place of business is located outside of Manitoba must  
  

(a) certify on Form 91-507F1 that it will provide the Commission with access to its books and records and 
will submit to onsite inspection and examination by the Commission, 
 
(b) certify on Form 91-507F1 that it will provide the Commission with an opinion of legal counsel that  

 
(i) the applicant has the power and authority to provide the Commission with access to its books and 
records, and 
 
(ii) the applicant has the power and authority to submit to onsite inspection and examination by the 
Commission. 

 
2(3)  In addition to the requirements set out in subsections (1) and (2), an applicant for designation 
under section 31.6 of the Act whose head office or principal place of business is located in a foreign 
jurisdiction must file a completed Form 91-507F2 – Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for 
Service of Process. 
 
2(4)  Within 7 days of becoming aware of an inaccuracy in or making a change to the information 
provided in Form 91-507F1, an applicant must file an amendment to Form 91-507F1 in the manner set out in 
that Form. 
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Change in information 
3(1)  Subject to subsection (2), a designated trade repository must not implement a significant 
change to a matter set out in Form 91-507F1 unless it has filed an amendment to Form 91-507F1 in the manner 
set out in that Form at least 45 days before implementing the change. 
 
3(2)  A designated trade repository must file an amendment to the information provided in Exhibit 
I (Fees) of Form 91-507F1 in the manner set out in the Form at least 15 days before implementing a change to 
the information provided in the Exhibit. 
 
3(3)  For a change to a matter set out in Form 91-507F1 other than a change referred to in 
subsection (1) or (2), a designated trade repository must file an amendment to Form 91-507F1 in the manner 
set out in that Form by the earlier of 

 
(a) the close of business of the designated trade repository on the 10th day after the end of the month in 
which the change was made, and 

 
(b) the time the designated trade repository publicly discloses the change. 

 
 
Filing of initial audited financial statements 
4(1)  An applicant must file audited financial statements for its most recently completed financial 
year with the Commission as part of its application for designation under section 31.6 of the Act. 
 
4(2)  The financial statements referred to in subsection (1) must 
 

(a) be prepared in accordance with one of the following 
 

(i) Canadian GAAP applicable to a publicly accountable enterprise, 
 

(ii) IFRS, or  
 

(iii) U.S. GAAP, if the person or company is incorporated or organized under the laws of the United 
States of America, 

 
(b) identify in the notes to the financial statements the accounting principles used to prepare the financial 
statements, 

 
(c) disclose the presentation currency, and 

 
(d) be audited in accordance with  

 
(i) Canadian GAAS, 

 
(ii) International Standards on Auditing, or 

 
(iii) U.S. AICPA GAAS or U.S. PCAOB GAAS if the person or company is incorporated or organized 
under the laws of the United States of America. 

 
4(3)  The financial statements referred to in subsection (1) must be accompanied by an auditor’s 
report that 
 

(a) expresses an unmodified opinion if the financial statements are audited in accordance with Canadian 
GAAS or International Standards on Auditing,  
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(b) expresses an unqualified opinion if the financial statements are audited in accordance with U.S. AICPA 
GAAS or U.S. PCAOB GAAS, 

 
(c) identifies all financial periods presented for which the auditor’s report applies, 

 
(d) identifies the auditing standards used to conduct the audit, 

 
(e) identifies the accounting principles used to prepare the financial statements, 

 
(f) is prepared in accordance with the same auditing standards used to conduct the audit, and 

 
(g) is prepared and signed by a person or company that is authorized to sign an auditor’s report under the 
laws of a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction, and that meets the professional standards of that 
jurisdiction. 

 
Filing of annual audited and interim financial statements 
5(1)  A designated trade repository must file annual audited financial statements that comply with 
the requirements in subsections 4(2) and 4(3) with the Commission no later than the 90th day after the end of 
its financial year. 
 
5(2)  A designated trade repository must file interim financial statements with the Commission no 
later than the 45th day after the end of each interim period. 
 
5(3)  The interim financial statements referred to in subsection (2) must  

 
(a) be prepared in accordance with one of the following 

 
(i) Canadian GAAP applicable to a publicly accountable enterprise, 
 
(ii) IFRS, or  
 
(iii) U.S. GAAP, if the person or company is incorporated or organized under the laws of the United 
States of America, and 

 
(b) identify in the notes to the financial statements the accounting principles used to prepare the financial 
statements. 

 
Ceasing to carry on business 
6(1)  A designated trade repository that intends to cease carrying on business in Manitoba as a 
trade repository must make an application and file a report on Form 91-507F3 – Cessation of Operations 
Report For Trade Repository at least 180 days before the date on which it intends to cease carrying on that 
business. 
 
6(2)  A designated trade repository that involuntarily ceases to carry on business in Manitoba as a 
trade repository must file a report on Form 91-507F3 as soon as practicable after it ceases to carry on that 
business. 
 
Legal framework 
7(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure a well-founded, clear, transparent, and enforceable legal 
basis for each material aspect of its activities. 
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7(2)  Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must establish, 
implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures that are not contrary to the public 
interest and that are reasonably designed to ensure that  
 

(a) such rules, policies and procedures and the contractual arrangements are supported by the laws 
applicable to those rules, policies, procedures and contractual arrangements, 

 
(b) the rights and obligations of a user, owner and regulator with respect to the use of the designated trade 
repository’s information are clear and transparent, 

 
(c) the contractual arrangements that it enters into and supporting documentation clearly state service 
levels, rights of access, protection of confidential information, intellectual property rights and operational 
reliability, and 

 
(d) the status of records of contracts in its repository and whether those records of contracts are the legal 
contracts of record are clearly established.  

 
Governance 
8(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain written governance 
arrangements that  
 

(a) are well-defined, clear and transparent, 
 

(b) set out a clear organizational structure with consistent lines of responsibility, 
 

(c) provide for effective internal controls, 
 
(d) promote the safety and efficiency of the designated trade repository, 

 
(e) ensure effective oversight of the designated trade repository, 

 
(f) support the stability of the broader financial system and other relevant public interest considerations, 
and  

 
(g) properly balance the interests of relevant stakeholders. 

 
8(2)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures reasonably designed to identify and manage existing and potential conflicts of interest. 
 
8(3)  A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website  
 

(a) the governance arrangements established in accordance with subsection (1), and 
 

(b) the rules, policies and procedures established in accordance with subsection (2). 
 
Board of directors 
9(1)  A designated trade repository must have a board of directors. 
 
9(2)  The board of directors of a designated trade repository must include  
 

(a) individuals who have an appropriate level of skill and experience to effectively and efficiently oversee 
the management of its operations in accordance with all relevant laws, and  
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(b) appropriate representation by individuals who are independent of the designated trade repository. 
 
9(3)  The board of directors of a designated trade repository must, in consultation with the chief 
compliance officer of the designated trade repository, resolve conflicts of interest identified by the chief 
compliance officer. 
 
9(4)  The board of directors of a designated trade repository must meet with the chief compliance 
officer of the designated trade repository on a regular basis. 
 
Management 
10(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures that  
 

(a) specify the roles and responsibilities of management, and 
 

(b) ensure that management has the experience, competencies, integrity and mix of skills necessary to 
discharge its roles and responsibilities. 

 
10(2)  A designated trade repository must notify the Commission no later than the 5th business day 
after appointing or replacing its chief compliance officer, chief executive officer or chief risk officer. 
 
Chief compliance officer 
11(1)  The board of directors of a designated trade repository must appoint a chief compliance 
officer with the appropriate experience, competencies, integrity and mix of skills necessary to serve in that 
capacity. 
 
11(2)  The chief compliance officer of a designated trade repository must report directly to the board 
of directors of the designated trade repository or, if so directed by the board of directors, to the chief executive 
officer of the designated trade repository. 
 
11(3)  The chief compliance officer of a designated trade repository must 
 

(a) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to identify and resolve 
conflicts of interest, 

 
(b) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to ensure that the 
designated trade repository complies with securities legislation, 

 
(c) monitor compliance with the rules, policies and procedures required under paragraphs (a) and (b) on an 
ongoing basis, 

 
(d) report to the board of directors of the designated trade repository as soon as practicable upon becoming 
aware of a circumstance indicating that the designated trade repository, or an individual acting on its 
behalf, is not in compliance with the securities laws of a jurisdiction in which it operates and one or more 
of the following apply: 

 
(i) the non-compliance creates a risk of harm to a user; 
 
(ii) the non-compliance creates a risk of harm to the capital markets; 
 
(iii) the non-compliance is part of a pattern of non-compliance;  
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(iv) the non-compliance may have an impact on the ability of the designated trade repository to carry on 
business as a trade repository in compliance with securities legislation,  

 
(e) report to the designated trade repository’s board of directors as soon as practicable upon becoming 
aware of a conflict of interest that creates a risk of harm to a user or to the capital markets, and 

 
(f) prepare and certify an annual report assessing compliance by the designated trade repository, and 
individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation and submit the report to the board of directors.  

 
11(4)  Concurrently with submitting a report under paragraph (3)(d), (3)(e) or (3)(f), the chief 
compliance officer must file a copy of the report with the Commission. 
 
Fees 
12  All fees and other material costs imposed by a designated trade repository on its participants 
must be  
 

(a) fairly and equitably allocated among participants, and  
 

(b) publicly disclosed on its website for each service it offers with respect to the collection and maintenance 
of derivatives data. 

 
Access to designated trade repository services 
13(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures that establish objective, risk-based criteria for participation that permit fair and open 
access to the services it provides.  
 
13(2)  A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website the rules, policies and 
procedures referred to in subsection (1). 
 
13(3)  A designated trade repository must not do any of the following: 

 
(a) unreasonably prohibit, condition or limit access by a person or company to the services offered by the 
designated trade repository; 

 
(b) permit unreasonable discrimination among the participants of the designated trade repository; 

 
(c) impose a burden on competition that is not reasonably necessary and appropriate;  

 
(d) require the use or purchase of another service for a person or company to utilize the trade reporting 
service offered by the designated trade repository. 

 
Acceptance of reporting 
14  A designated trade repository must accept derivatives data from a participant for a transaction 
in a derivative of the asset class or classes set out in the designated trade repository’s designation order. 
 
Communication policies, procedures and standards 
15  A designated trade repository must use or accommodate relevant internationally accepted 
communication procedures and standards in order to facilitate the efficient exchange of data between its 
systems and those of  
 

(a) its participants, 
 

(b) other trade repositories,  
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(c) exchanges, clearing agencies, alternative trading systems, and other marketplaces, and 
 

(d) other service providers. 
 
Due process 
16  For a decision made by a designated trade repository that directly adversely affects a 
participant or an applicant that applies to become a participant, the designated trade repository must ensure that 
 

(a) the participant or applicant is given an opportunity to be heard or make representations, and 
 

(b) it keeps records of, gives reasons for, and provides for reviews of its decisions, including, for each 
applicant, the reasons for granting, denying or limiting access. 

 
Rules, policies and procedures 
17(1)  The rules, policies and procedures of a designated trade repository must  
 

(a) be clear and comprehensive and provide sufficient information to enable a participant to have an 
accurate understanding of its rights and obligations in accessing the services of the designated trade 
repository and the risks, fees, and other material costs they incur by using the services of the designated 
trade repository, 

 
(b) be reasonably designed to govern all aspects of the services offered by the designated trade repository 
with respect to the collection and maintenance of derivatives data and other information on a completed 
transaction, and  
 
(c) not be inconsistent with securities legislation. 

 
17(2)  A designated trade repository must monitor compliance with its rules, policies and procedures 
on an ongoing basis. 
 
17(3)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures for sanctioning non-compliance with its rules, policies and procedures. 
 
17(4)  A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website 
 

(a) its rules, policies and procedures referred to in this section, and 
 

(b) its procedures for adopting new rules, policies and procedures or amending existing rules, policies and 
procedures. 

 
17(5)  A designated trade repository must file its proposed new or amended rules, policies and 
procedures for approval in accordance with the terms and conditions of its designation order, unless the order 
explicitly exempts the designated trade repository from this requirement. 
 
Records of data reported 
18(1)  A designated trade repository must design its recordkeeping procedures to ensure that it 
records derivatives data accurately, completely and on a timely basis. 
 
18(2)  A designated trade repository must keep, in a safe location and in a durable form, records of 
derivatives data in relation to a transaction for the life of the transaction and for a further 7 years after the date 
on which the transaction expires or terminates. 
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18(3)  Throughout the period described in subsection (2), a designated trade repository must create 
and maintain at least one copy of each record of derivatives data required to be kept under subsection (2), in a 
safe location and in a durable form, separate from the location of the original record. 
 
Comprehensive risk-management framework 
19  A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain a written risk-
management framework for comprehensively managing risks including business, legal, and operational risks. 
 
General business risk 
20(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain appropriate systems, 
controls and procedures to identify, monitor, and manage its general business risk. 
 
20(2)  Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must hold 
sufficient insurance coverage and liquid net assets funded by equity to cover potential general business losses 
in order that it can continue operations and services as a going concern in order to achieve a recovery or an 
orderly wind down if those losses materialize. 
 
20(3)  For the purposes of subsection (2), a designated trade repository must hold, at a minimum, 
liquid net assets funded by equity equal to six months of current operating expenses. 
 
20(4)  A designated trade repository must identify scenarios that may potentially prevent it from 
being able to provide its critical operations and services as a going concern and assess the effectiveness of a 
full range of options for an orderly wind-down. 
 
20(5)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures reasonably designed to facilitate its orderly wind-down based on the results of the 
assessment required by subsection (4). 
 
20(6)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures to ensure that it or a successor entity, insolvency administrator or other legal 
representative, will continue to comply with the requirements of subsection 6(2) and section 37 in the event of 
the bankruptcy or insolvency of the designated trade repository or the wind-down of the designated trade 
repository’s operations. 
 
System and other operational risk requirements 
21(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce appropriate 
systems, controls and procedures to identify and minimize the impact of all plausible sources of operational 
risk, both internal and external, including risks to data integrity, data security, business continuity and capacity 
and performance management. 
 
21(2)  The systems, controls and procedures established pursuant to subsection (1) must be approved 
by the board of directors of the designated trade repository.  
 
21(3)  Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must 
 

(a) develop and maintain 
 

(i) an adequate system of internal controls over its systems, and 
 
(ii) adequate information technology general controls, including without limitation, controls relating to 
information systems operations, information security and integrity, change management, problem 
management, network support and system software support, 
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(b) in accordance with prudent business practice, on a reasonably frequent basis and, in any event, at least 
annually 

 
(i) make reasonable current and future capacity estimates, and 

 
(ii) conduct capacity stress tests to determine the ability of those systems to process transactions in an 
accurate, timely and efficient manner, and 

 
(c) promptly notify the Commission of a material systems failure, malfunction, delay or other disruptive 
incident, or a breach of data security, integrity or confidentiality, and provide a post-incident report that 
includes a root-cause analysis as soon as practicable. 

 
21(4)  Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must establish, 
implement, maintain and enforce business continuity plans, including disaster recovery plans reasonably 
designed to 
 

(a) achieve prompt recovery of its operations following a disruption, 
 

(b) allow for the timely recovery of information, including derivatives data, in the event of a disruption, and 
 

(c) provide for the exercise of authority in the event of an emergency.  
 
21(5)  A designated trade repository must test its business continuity plans, including disaster 
recovery plans, at least annually. 
 
21(6)  For each of its systems for collecting and maintaining reports of derivatives data, a designated 
trade repository must annually engage a qualified party to conduct an independent review and prepare a report 
in accordance with established audit standards to ensure that it is in compliance with paragraphs (3)(a) and (b) 
and subsections (4) and (5). 
 
21(7)  A designated trade repository must provide the report prepared in accordance with subsection 
(6) to 
 

(a) its board of directors or audit committee promptly upon the completion of the report, and 
 

(b) the Commission not later than the 30th day after providing the report to its board of directors or audit 
committee. 

 
21(8)  A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website all technology 
requirements regarding interfacing with or accessing the services provided by the designated trade repository,  

 
(a) if operations have not begun, sufficiently in advance of operations to allow a reasonable period for 
testing and system modification by participants, and 

 
(b) if operations have begun, sufficiently in advance of implementing a material change to technology 
requirements to allow a reasonable period for testing and system modification by participants. 

 
21(9)  A designated trade repository must make available testing facilities for interfacing with or 
accessing the services provided by the designated trade repository, 
 

(a) if operations have not begun, sufficiently in advance of operations to allow a reasonable period for 
testing and system modification by participants, and 
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(b) if operations have begun, sufficiently in advance of implementing a material change to technology 
requirements to allow a reasonable period for testing and system modification by participants. 

 
21(10)  A designated trade repository must not begin operations in Manitoba unless it has complied 
with paragraphs (8)(a) and (9)(a). 
 
21(11)  Paragraphs (8)(b) and (9)(b) do not apply to a designated trade repository if 

  
(a) the change to its technology requirements must be made immediately to address a failure, malfunction 
or material delay of its systems or equipment, 

 
(b) the designated trade repository immediately notifies the Commission of its intention to make the change 
to its technology requirements, and 

 
(c) the designated trade repository publicly discloses on its website the changed technology requirements as 
soon as practicable. 

 
Data security and confidentiality 
22(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure the safety, privacy and confidentiality of the derivatives 
data. 
 
22(2)  A designated trade repository must not release derivatives data for commercial or business 
purposes unless 
 

(a) the derivatives data has otherwise been disclosed pursuant to section 39, or 
 

(b) the counterparties to the transaction have provided the designated trade repository with their express 
written consent to use or release the derivatives data. 

 
Confirmation of data and information 
23(1)  A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures to confirm with each counterparty to a transaction, or agent acting on behalf of such 
counterparty, that the derivatives data that the designated trade repository receives from a reporting 
counterparty, or from a party to whom a reporting counterparty has delegated its reporting obligation under this 
Rule, is accurate. 
 
23(2)  Despite subsection (1), a designated trade repository need only confirm the accuracy of the 
derivatives data it receives with those counterparties that are participants of the designated trade repository. 
 
Outsourcing 
24  If a designated trade repository outsources a material service or system to a service provider, 
including to an associate or affiliate of the designated trade repository, the designated trade repository must 
 

(a) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures for the selection of a 
service provider to which a material service or system may be outsourced and for the evaluation and 
approval of such an outsourcing arrangement, 

 
(b) identify any conflicts of interest between the designated trade repository and a service provider to which 
a material service or system is outsourced, and establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, 
policies and procedures to mitigate and manage those conflicts of interest, 
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(c) enter into a written contract with the service provider that is appropriate for the materiality and nature of 
the outsourced activity and that provides for adequate termination procedures, 

 
(d) maintain access to the books and records of the service provider relating to the outsourced activity, 

 
(e) ensure that the Commission has the same access to all data, information and systems maintained by the 
service provider on behalf of the designated trade repository that it would have absent the outsourcing 
arrangement,  

 
(f) ensure that all persons conducting audits or independent reviews of the designated trade repository 
under this Rule have appropriate access to all data, information and systems maintained by the service 
provider on behalf of the designated trade repository that such persons would have absent the outsourcing 
arrangement, 

 
(g) take appropriate measures to determine that a service provider to which a material service or system is 
outsourced establishes, maintains and periodically tests an appropriate business continuity plan, including a 
disaster recovery plan in accordance with the requirements under section 21,  

 
(h) take appropriate measures to ensure that the service provider protects the safety, privacy and 
confidentiality of derivatives data and of users’ confidential information in accordance with the 
requirements under section 22, and 

 
(i) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to regularly review the 
performance of the service provider under the outsourcing arrangement. 

 
 

PART 3 – DATA REPORTING 
 
Reporting counterparty 
25(1)  The reporting counterparty with respect to a transaction involving a local counterparty is 
 

(a) if the transaction is cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency, the recognized or exempt 
clearing agency, 

 
(b) if the transaction is not cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency and is between two 
derivatives dealers, each derivatives dealer,  

 
(c) if the transaction is not cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency and is between a 
derivatives dealer and a counterparty that is not a derivatives dealer, the derivatives dealer, and 

 
(d) in any other case, each local counterparty to the transaction. 

 
25(2)  A local counterparty to a transaction must act as the reporting counterparty to the transaction 
for the purposes of this Rule if  
 

(a) the reporting counterparty to the transaction as determined under paragraph (1)(c) is not a local 
counterparty, and 

 
(b) by the end of the second business day following the day on which derivatives data is required to be 
reported under this Part, the local counterparty has not received confirmation that the derivatives data for 
the transaction has been reported by the reporting counterparty. 
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Duty to report 
26(1)  A reporting counterparty to a transaction involving a local counterparty must report, or cause 
to be reported, the data required to be reported under this Part to a designated trade repository.  
 
26(2)  A reporting counterparty in respect of a transaction is responsible for ensuring that all 
reporting obligations in respect of that transaction have been fulfilled. 
 
26(3)  A reporting counterparty may delegate its reporting obligations under this Rule, but remains 
responsible for ensuring the timely and accurate reporting of derivatives data required by this Rule. 
 
26(4)  Despite subsection (1), if no designated trade repository accepts the data required to be 
reported by this Part, the reporting counterparty must electronically report the data required to be reported by 
this Part to the Commission. 
 
26(5)  A reporting counterparty satisfies the reporting obligation in respect of a transaction required 
to be reported under subsection (1) if 
 

(a) the transaction is required to be reported solely because a counterparty to the transaction is a local 
counterparty pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of the definition of "local counterparty", 

 
(b) the transaction is reported to a designated trade repository pursuant to  

 
(i) the securities legislation of a province of Canada other than Manitoba, or 
 
(ii) the laws of a foreign jurisdiction listed in Appendix B; and 

 
(c) the reporting counterparty instructs the designated trade repository referred to in paragraph (b) to 
provide the Commission with access to the derivatives data that it is required to report pursuant to this Rule 
and otherwise uses its best efforts to provide the Commission with access to such derivatives data. 

 
26(6)  A reporting counterparty must ensure that all reported derivatives data relating to a 
transaction 

 
(a) is reported to the same designated trade repository to which the initial report was made or, if the initial 
report was made to the Commission under subsection (4), to the Commission, and 

 
(b) is accurate and contains no misrepresentation. 

 
26(7)  A reporting counterparty must report an error or omission in the derivatives data as soon as 
technologically practicable upon discovery of the error or omission, and in no event later than the end of the 
business day following the day of discovery of the error or omission. 
  
26(8)  A local counterparty, other than the reporting counterparty, must notify the reporting 
counterparty of an error or omission with respect to derivatives data relating to a transaction to which it is a 
counterparty as soon as technologically practicable upon discovery of the error or omission, and in no event 
later than the end of the business day following the day of discovery of the error or omission.  
 
26(9)  A recognized or exempt clearing agency must report derivatives data to the designated trade 
repository specified by a local counterparty and may not report derivatives data to another trade repository 
without the consent of the local counterparty where  
 

(a) the reporting counterparty to a transaction is the recognized or exempt clearing agency, and 
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(b) the local counterparty to the transaction that is not a recognized or exempt clearing agency has specified 
a designated trade repository to which derivatives data in respect of that transaction is to be reported. 

 
Identifiers, general  
27  A reporting counterparty must include the following in every report required by this Part: 
 

(a) the legal entity identifier of each counterparty to the transaction as set out in section 28;  
 

(b) the unique transaction identifier for the transaction as set out in section 29; 
 

(c) the unique product identifier for the transaction as set out in section 30. 
 
Legal entity identifiers 
28(1)  A designated trade repository must identify each counterparty to a transaction that is required 
to be reported under this Rule in all recordkeeping and all reporting required under this Rule by means of a 
single legal entity identifier. 
 
28(2)  Each of the following rules apply to legal entity identifiers 
 

(a) a legal entity identifier must be a unique identification code assigned to a counterparty in accordance 
with the standards set by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System, and 

 
(b) a local counterparty must comply with all applicable requirements imposed by the Global Legal Entity 
Identifier System. 

 
28(3)  Despite subsection (2), if the Global Legal Entity Identifier System is unavailable to a 
counterparty to a transaction at the time when a report under this Rule is required to be made, all of the 
following rules apply 
 

(a) each counterparty to the transaction must obtain a substitute legal entity identifier which complies with 
the standards established March 8, 2013 by the Legal Entity Identifier Regulatory Oversight Committee for 
pre-legal entity identifiers, 

 
(b) a local counterparty must use the substitute legal entity identifier until a legal entity identifier is 
assigned to the counterparty in accordance with the standards set by the Global Legal Entity Identifier 
System as required under paragraph (2)(a), and 

 
(c) after the holder of a substitute legal entity identifier is assigned a legal entity identifier in accordance 
with the standards set by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System as required under paragraph (2)(a), the 
local counterparty must ensure that it is identified only by the assigned legal entity identifier in all 
derivatives data reported pursuant to this Rule in respect of transactions to which it is a counterparty. 

 
Unique transaction identifiers 
29(1)  A designated trade repository must identify each transaction that is required to be reported 
under this Rule in all recordkeeping and all reporting required under this Rule by means of a unique 
transaction identifier.   

 
29(2)  A designated trade repository must assign a unique transaction identifier to a transaction, 
using its own methodology or incorporating a unique transaction identifier previously assigned to the 
transaction.  
 
29(3)  A designated trade repository must not assign more than one unique transaction identifier to a 
transaction. 
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Unique product identifiers 
30(1)  For the purposes of this section, a unique product identifier means a code that uniquely 
identifies a derivative and is assigned in accordance with international or industry standards.  
 
30(2)  A reporting counterparty must identify each transaction that is required to be reported under 
this Rule in all recordkeeping and all reporting required under this Rule by means of a unique product 
identifier. 
 
30(3)  A reporting counterparty must not assign more than one unique product identifier to a 
transaction. 
 
30(4)  If international or industry standards for a unique product identifier are unavailable for a 
particular derivative when a report is required to be made to a designated trade repository under this Rule, a 
reporting counterparty must assign a unique product identifier to the transaction using its own methodology. 
 
Creation data 
31(1)  Upon execution of a transaction that is required to be reported under this Rule, a reporting 
counterparty must report the creation data relating to that transaction to a designated trade repository. 
 
31(2)  A reporting counterparty in respect of a transaction must report creation data in real time. 
 
31(3)  If it is not technologically practicable to report creation data in real time, a reporting 
counterparty must report creation data as soon as technologically practicable and in no event later than the end 
of the business day following the day on which the data would otherwise be required to be reported. 
 
31(4)  Despite subsections (2) and (3), a local counterparty that is required to act as reporting 
counterparty to a transaction under subsection 25(2) must report the creation data relating to the transaction in 
no event later than the end of the third business day following the day on which the data would otherwise be 
required to be reported. 
 
Life-cycle event data 
32(1)  For a transaction that is required to be reported under this Rule, the reporting counterparty 
must report all life-cycle event data to a designated trade repository by the end of the business day on which 
the life-cycle event occurs. 
 
32(2)  If it is not technologically practicable to report life-cycle event data by the end of the business 
day on which the life-cycle event occurs, the reporting counterparty must report life-cycle event data no later 
than the end of the business day following the day on which the life-cycle event occurs.  
 
Valuation data 
33(1)  For a transaction that is required to be reported under this Rule, a reporting counterparty must 
report valuation data, based on industry accepted valuation standards, to a designated trade repository 
 

(a) daily, based on relevant closing market data from the previous business day, if the reporting 
counterparty is a derivatives dealer or a recognized or exempt clearing agency , or 
 
(b) quarterly, as of the last day of each calendar quarter, if the reporting counterparty is not a derivatives 
dealer or a recognized or exempt clearing agency. 

 
33(2)  Valuation data required to be reported pursuant to paragraph 1(b) must be reported to the 
designated trade repository no later than 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter. 
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Pre-existing transactions 
34(1)  Despite section 31 and subject to subsection 43(5), for a transaction required to be reported 
pursuant to subsection 26(1) that was entered into before July 2, 2014 and that had outstanding contractual 
obligations on that day 
 

(a) a reporting counterparty to the transaction is required to report only that creation data indicated in the 
column entitled "Required for Pre-existing Transactions" in Appendix A, and 
 
(b) the creation data required to be reported pursuant to paragraph (a) must be reported no later than 
December 31, 2014. 

 
34(2)  Despite section 32, for a transaction to which subsection (1) applies, a reporting 
counterparty’s obligation to report life-cycle event data under section 32 commences only after it has reported 
creation data in accordance with subsection (1). 
 
34(3)  Despite section 33, for a transaction to which subsection (1) applies, a reporting 
counterparty’s obligation to report valuation data under section 33 commences only after it has reported 
creation data in accordance with subsection (1). 
 
Timing requirements for reporting data to another designated trade repository 
35  Despite the data reporting timing requirements in sections 31, 32, 33 and 34, where a 
designated trade repository ceases operations or stops accepting derivatives data for a certain asset class of 
derivatives, the reporting counterparty may fulfill its reporting obligations under this Rule by reporting the 
derivatives data to another designated trade repository, or the Commission if there is not an available 
designated trade repository, within a reasonable period of time. 
 
Records of data reported 
36(1)  A reporting counterparty must keep transaction records for the life of each transaction and for 
a further 7 years after the date on which the transaction expires or terminates.  
 
36(2)  A reporting counterparty must keep records referred to in subsection (1) in a safe location and 
in a durable form. 

 
 

PART 4 – DATA DISSEMINATION AND ACCESS TO DATA 
 
 
Data available to regulators 
37(1)  A designated trade repository must, at no cost 
 

(a) provide to the Commission direct, continuous and timely electronic access to such data in the designated 
trade repository’s possession as is required by the Commission in order to carry out the Commission’s 
mandate,  

 
(b) accept and promptly fulfil any data requests from the Commission in order to carry out the 
Commission’s mandate,  

 
(c) create and make available to the Commission aggregate data derived from data in the designated trade 
repository’s possession as required by the Commission in order to carry out the Commission’s mandate, 
and 

 
(d) disclose to the Commission the manner in which the derivatives data provided under paragraph (c) has 
been aggregated.    
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37(2)  A designated trade repository must conform to internationally accepted regulatory access 
standards applicable to trade repositories. 
 
37(3)  A reporting counterparty must use its best efforts to provide the Commission with access to 
all derivatives data that it is required to report pursuant to this Rule, including instructing a trade repository to 
provide the Commission with access to such data. 
 
Data available to counterparties 
38(1)  A designated trade repository must provide counterparties to a transaction with timely access 
to all derivatives data relevant to that transaction which is submitted to the designated trade repository.  
 
38(2)  A designated trade repository must have appropriate verification and authorization procedures 
in place to deal with access pursuant to subsection (1) by non-reporting counterparties or a party acting on 
behalf of a non-reporting counterparty. 
 
38(3)  Each counterparty to a transaction is deemed to have consented to the release of all 
derivatives data required to be reported or disclosed under this Rule.  
 
38(4)  Subsection (3) applies despite any agreement to the contrary between the counterparties to a 
transaction. 
 
Data available to public 
39(1)  A designated trade repository must, on a periodic basis, create and make available to the 
public, at no cost, aggregate data on open positions, volume, number and price, relating to the transactions 
reported to it pursuant to this Rule. 
 
39(2)  The periodic aggregate data made available to the public pursuant to subsection (1) must be 
complemented at a minimum by breakdowns, where applicable, by currency of denomination, geographic 
location of reference entity or asset, asset class, contract type, maturity and whether the transaction is cleared. 
 
39(3)  A designated trade repository must make transaction level reports of the data indicated in the 
column entitled "Required for Public Dissemination" in Appendix A for each transaction reported pursuant to 
this Rule available to the public at no cost not later than 
 

(a) the end of the day following the day on which it receives the data from the reporting counterparty to the 
transaction, if one of the counterparties to the transaction is a derivatives dealer, or 

 
(b) the end of the second day following the day on which it receives the data from the reporting 
counterparty to the transaction in all other circumstances. 

 
39(4)  In disclosing transaction level reports required by subsection (3), a designated trade 
repository must not disclose the identity of either counterparty to the transaction. 
 
39(5)  A designated trade repository must make the data required to be made available to the public 
under this section available in a usable form through a publicly accessible website or other publicly accessible 
technology or medium. 
 
39(6)  Despite subsections (1) to (5), a designated trade repository is not required to make public any 
derivatives data for transactions entered into between affiliated companies as defined under subsection 1(2) of 
the Act.  
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37(2)  A designated trade repository must conform to internationally accepted regulatory access 
standards applicable to trade repositories. 
 
37(3)  A reporting counterparty must use its best efforts to provide the Commission with access to 
all derivatives data that it is required to report pursuant to this Rule, including instructing a trade repository to 
provide the Commission with access to such data. 
 
Data available to counterparties 
38(1)  A designated trade repository must provide counterparties to a transaction with timely access 
to all derivatives data relevant to that transaction which is submitted to the designated trade repository.  
 
38(2)  A designated trade repository must have appropriate verification and authorization procedures 
in place to deal with access pursuant to subsection (1) by non-reporting counterparties or a party acting on 
behalf of a non-reporting counterparty. 
 
38(3)  Each counterparty to a transaction is deemed to have consented to the release of all 
derivatives data required to be reported or disclosed under this Rule.  
 
38(4)  Subsection (3) applies despite any agreement to the contrary between the counterparties to a 
transaction. 
 
Data available to public 
39(1)  A designated trade repository must, on a periodic basis, create and make available to the 
public, at no cost, aggregate data on open positions, volume, number and price, relating to the transactions 
reported to it pursuant to this Rule. 
 
39(2)  The periodic aggregate data made available to the public pursuant to subsection (1) must be 
complemented at a minimum by breakdowns, where applicable, by currency of denomination, geographic 
location of reference entity or asset, asset class, contract type, maturity and whether the transaction is cleared. 
 
39(3)  A designated trade repository must make transaction level reports of the data indicated in the 
column entitled "Required for Public Dissemination" in Appendix A for each transaction reported pursuant to 
this Rule available to the public at no cost not later than 
 

(a) the end of the day following the day on which it receives the data from the reporting counterparty to the 
transaction, if one of the counterparties to the transaction is a derivatives dealer, or 

 
(b) the end of the second day following the day on which it receives the data from the reporting 
counterparty to the transaction in all other circumstances. 

 
39(4)  In disclosing transaction level reports required by subsection (3), a designated trade 
repository must not disclose the identity of either counterparty to the transaction. 
 
39(5)  A designated trade repository must make the data required to be made available to the public 
under this section available in a usable form through a publicly accessible website or other publicly accessible 
technology or medium. 
 
39(6)  Despite subsections (1) to (5), a designated trade repository is not required to make public any 
derivatives data for transactions entered into between affiliated companies as defined under subsection 1(2) of 
the Act.  
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PART 5 – EXCLUSIONS 
 
 
40  Despite any other section of this Rule, a local counterparty is under no obligation to report 
derivatives data for a transaction if, 

 
(a) the transaction relates to a derivative the asset class of which is a commodity other than cash or 
currency, 

 
(b) the local counterparty is not a derivatives dealer, and 

 
(c) the local counterparty has less than $500,000 aggregate notional value, without netting, under all its 
outstanding transactions at the time of the transaction including the additional notional value related to that 
transaction. 

 
41  Despite any other section of this Rule, a counterparty is under no obligation to report 
derivatives data in relation to a transaction if it is entered into between  

 
(a) Her Majesty in right of Manitoba, and  

 
(b) an Manitoba crown corporation or crown agency that forms part of a consolidated entity with Her 
Majesty in right of Manitoba for accounting purposes. 

 
 

PART 6 – EXEMPTIONS 
 
 
42  A Director may grant an exemption to this Rule, in whole or in part, subject to such 
conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption. 

 
 

PART 7 – EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 
Effective date 
43(1)  Parts 1, 2, 4, and 6 come into force on December 31, 2013. 
 
43(2)  Despite subsection (1), subsection 39(3) does not apply until December 31, 2014. 
 
43(3)  Parts 3 and 5 come into force July 2, 2014. 
 
43(4)  Despite subsection (3), Part 3 does not apply so as to require a reporting counterparty that is 
not a derivatives dealer to make any reports under that Part until September 30, 2014. 
 
43(5)  Despite the foregoing, Part 3 does not apply to a transaction entered into before July 2, 2014 
that expires or terminates not later than December 31, 2014. 
 
Citation 
44  This Instrument may be cited as MSC Rule 2013-37. 
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 FORM 91-507F1  
MSC RULE 91-507 – TRADE REPOSITORIES AND DERIVATIVES DATA REPORTING 

 
APPLICATION FOR DESIGNATION 

TRADE REPOSITORY 
INFORMATION STATEMENT 

 
 
Filer:    TRADE REPOSITORY  
 
Type of Filing:     INITIAL     AMENDMENT 
 
1. Full name of trade repository:            
 
2. Name(s) under which business is conducted, if different from item 1:       
 
3. If this filing makes a name change on behalf of the trade repository in respect of the name set out in item 1 or 
item 2, enter the previous name and the new name. 
 
 Previous name:             
 
 New name:             
 
4. Head office             
 
 Address:             
 
 Telephone:       
 
 Facsimile:       
 
5. Mailing address (if different):            
 
6. Other offices             
 
 Address:             
 
 Telephone:       
 
 Facsimile:       
 
7. Website address:             
 
8. Contact employee             
 
 Name and title:              
 
 Telephone number:       
 
 Facsimile:       
 
 E-mail address:        
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9. Counsel   
 
 Firm name:             
 
 Contact name:             
 
 Telephone number:       
 
 Facsimile:       
 
 E-mail address:       
 
10. Canadian counsel (if applicable) 
 
 Firm name:             
 
 Contact name:             
 
 Telephone number:       
 
 Facsimile:       
 
 E-mail address:       
 
EXHIBITS 
 
File all Exhibits with the Filing. For each Exhibit, include the name of the trade repository, the date of filing of the 
Exhibit and the date as of which the information is accurate (if different from the date of the filing). If any Exhibit 
required is inapplicable, a statement to that effect shall be furnished instead of such Exhibit.  
 
Except as provided below, if the filer files an amendment to the information provided in its Filing and the information 
relates to an Exhibit filed with the Filing or a subsequent amendment, the filer must, in order to comply with section 3 of 
MSC Rule 91-507 Trade Repositories and Derivatives Data Reporting (the “TR Rule”), provide a description of the 
change, the expected date of the implementation of the change, and file a complete and updated Exhibit. The filer must 
provide a clean and blacklined version showing changes from the previous filing. 
 
If the filer has otherwise filed the information required by the previous paragraph pursuant to section 17 of the TR Rule, 
it is not required to file the information again as an amendment to an Exhibit. However, if supplementary material 
relating to a filed rule is contained in an Exhibit, an amendment to the Exhibit must also be filed. 
 
Exhibit A – Corporate Governance 
 
1. Legal status: 
 
   Corporation 
 
   Partnership 
 
   Other (specify):  
 
2. Indicate the following: 
 

1.  Date (DD/MM/YYYY) of formation.  
 
2.  Place of formation.  
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3.  Statute under which trade repository was organized. 
 
4.  Regulatory status in other jurisdictions.  
 

3. Provide a copy of the constating documents (including corporate by-laws), shareholder agreements, partnership 
agreements and other similar documents, and all subsequent amendments.  

 
4. Provide the policies and procedures to address potential conflicts of interest arising from the operation of the 

trade repository or the services it provides, including those related to the commercial interest of the trade 
repository, the interests of its owners and its operators, the responsibilities and sound functioning of the trade 
repository, and those between the operations of the trade repository and its regulatory responsibilities.  

 
5. An applicant that is located outside of Manitoba that is applying for designation as a trade repository under 

section 31.6 of the Act must additionally provide the following: 
 

1.  An opinion of legal counsel that, as a matter of law the applicant has the power and authority to provide 
the Commission with prompt access to the applicant’s books and records and submit to onsite 
inspection and examination by the Commission, and 

 
2.  A completed Form 91-507F2, Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service. 

 
Exhibit B – Ownership 
 
A list of the registered or beneficial holders of securities of, partnership interests in, or other ownership interests in, the 
trade repository. For each of the persons listed in the Exhibit, please provide the following: 
 

1.  Name. 
 
2.  Principal business or occupation and title. 
 
3.  Ownership interest. 
 
4.  Nature of the ownership interest, including a description of the type of security, partnership interest or 

other ownership interest. 
 
In the case of a trade repository that is publicly traded, if the trade repository is a corporation, please only provide a list 
of each shareholder that directly owns five percent or more of a class of a security with voting rights. 
 
Exhibit C – Organization 
 
1. A list of partners, officers, governors, and members of the board of directors and any standing committees of the 

board, or persons performing similar functions, who presently hold or have held their offices or positions during 
the previous year, indicating the following for each: 
 
1.  Name. 
 
2.  Principal business or occupation and title. 
 
3.  Dates of commencement and expiry of present term of office or position. 
 
4.  Type of business in which each is primarily engaged and current employer. 
 
5.  Type of business in which each was primarily engaged in the preceding five years, if different from that 

set out in item 4. 
 
6.  Whether the person is considered to be an independent director. 
 

2.  A list of the committees of the board, including their mandates.  
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3.  The name of the trade repository’s Chief Compliance Officer. 
 
Exhibit D – Affiliates 
 
1. For each affiliated entity of the trade repository provide the name and head office address and describe the 

principal business of the affiliate. 
 
2. For each affiliated entity of the trade repository  
 

(i) to which the trade repository has outsourced any of its key services or systems described in Exhibit E – 
Operations of the Trade Repository, including business recordkeeping, recordkeeping of trade data, 
trade data reporting, trade data comparison, data feed, or  

 
(ii) with which the trade repository has any other material business relationship, including loans, cross-

guarantees, etc., 
 

provide the following information: 
 
1.  Name and address of the affiliate. 
 
2.  The name and title of the directors and officers, or persons performing similar functions, of the affiliate. 
 
3.  A description of the nature and extent of the contractual and other agreements with the trade repository, 

and the roles and responsibilities of the affiliate under the arrangement. 
 
4.  A copy of each material contract relating to any outsourced functions or other material relationship. 
 
5.  Copies of constating documents (including corporate by-laws), shareholder agreements, partnership 

agreements and other similar documents. 
 
6.  For the latest financial year of any affiliated entity that has any outstanding loans or cross-guarantee 

arrangements with the trade repository, financial statements, which may be unaudited, prepared in 
accordance with: 

 
a.  Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; 
 
b.  IFRS; or 
 
c.  U.S. GAAP where the affiliated entity is incorporated or organized under the laws of the U.S. 

 
Exhibit E – Operations of the Trade Repository 
 
Describe in detail the manner of operation of the trade repository and its associated functions. This should include, but 
not be limited to, a description of the following: 
 

1.  The structure of the trade repository. 
 
2.  Means of access by the trade repository’s participants and, if applicable, their clients to the trade 

repository’s facilities and services. 
 
3.  The hours of operation. 
 
4.  A description of the facilities and services offered by the trade repository including, but not limited to, 

collection and maintenance of derivatives data. 
 
5.  A list of the types of derivatives instruments for which data recordkeeping is offered, including, but not 

limited to, a description of the features and characteristics of the instruments. 
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6.  Procedures regarding the entry, display and reporting of derivatives data.  
 
7.  Description of recordkeeping procedures that ensure derivatives data is recorded accurately, completely 

and on a timely basis. 
 
8.  The safeguards and procedures to protect derivatives data of the trade repository’s participants, 

including required policies and procedures reasonably designed to protect the privacy and 
confidentiality of the data. 

 
9.  Training provided to participants and a copy of any materials provided with respect to systems and rules 

and other requirements of the trade repository. 
 
10.  Steps taken to ensure that the trade repository’s participants have knowledge of and comply with the 

requirements of the trade repository. 
 
11.   A description of the trade repository’s risk management framework for comprehensively managing risks 

including business, legal, and operational risks. 
 

The filer must provide all policies, procedures and manuals related to the operation of the trade repository.  
 
Exhibit F – Outsourcing 
 
Where the trade repository has outsourced the operation of key services or systems described in Exhibit E – Operations 
of the Trade Repository to an arms-length third party, including any function associated with the collection and 
maintenance of derivatives data, provide the following information: 
 

1.  Name and address of person or company (including any affiliates of the trade repository) to which the 
function has been outsourced. 

 
2.  A description of the nature and extent of the contractual or other agreement with the trade repository 

and the roles and responsibilities of the arms-length party under the arrangement. 
 
3.  A copy of each material contract relating to any outsourced function. 

 
Exhibit G – Systems and Contingency Planning 
 
For each of the systems for collecting and maintaining reports of derivatives data, describe: 
 

1.  Current and future capacity estimates. 
 
2.  Procedures for reviewing system capacity. 
 
3.  Procedures for reviewing system security. 
 
4.  Procedures to conduct stress tests.  
 
5.  A description of the filer’s business continuity and disaster recovery plans, including any relevant 

documentation. 
 
6.  Procedures to test business continuity and disaster recovery plans. 
 
7.  The list of data to be reported by all types of participants. 
 
8.  A description of the data format or formats that will be available to the Commission and other persons 

receiving trade reporting data. 
 



862

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l

  

Exhibit H – Access to Services 
 
1.  A complete set of all forms, agreements or other materials pertaining to access to the services of the trade 

repository described in Exhibit E.4. 
 
2.  Describe the types of trade repository participants. 
 
3.  Describe the trade repository’s criteria for access to the services of the trade repository.  
 
4.  Describe any differences in access to the services offered by the trade repository to different groups or types of 

participants. 
 
5.  Describe conditions under which the trade repository’s participants may be subject to suspension or termination 

with regard to access to the services of the trade repository.  
 
6.  Describe any procedures that will be involved in the suspension or termination of a participant. 
 
7.  Describe the trade repository’s arrangements for permitting clients of participants to have access to the trade 

repository. Provide a copy of any agreements or documentation relating to these arrangements. 
 

 
Exhibit I – Fees 
 
A description of the fee model and all fees charged by the trade repository, or by a party to which services have been 
directly or indirectly outsourced, including, but not limited to, fees relating to access and the collection and maintenance 
of derivatives data, how such fees are set, and any fee rebates or discounts and how the rebates and discounts are set. 
 

CERTIFICATE OF TRADE REPOSITORY 
 
The undersigned certifies that the information given in this report is true and correct. 
 
DATED at ____________ this ________ day of _________________, 20____ 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Name of trade repository) 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Name of director, officer or partner – please type or print) 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Signature of director, officer or partner) 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Official capacity – please type or print) 
 



863

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l

  

IF APPLICABLE, ADDITIONAL CERTIFICATE 
OF TRADE REPOSITORY THAT IS LOCATED OUTSIDE OF MANITOBA 

 
The undersigned certifies that  
 

(a)  it will provide the Commission with access to its books and records and will submit to onsite inspection 
and examination by the Commission; 

 
(b)  as a matter of law, it has the power and authority to  
 

i.  provide the Commission with access to its books and records, and 
 
ii.  submit to onsite inspection and examination by the Commission.  

 
DATED at ____________ this ________ day of _________________, 20____ 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Name of trade repository) 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Name of director, officer or partner – please type or print) 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Signature of director, officer or partner) 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
(Official capacity – please type or print) 
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FORM 91-507F2 
MSC RULE 91-507 – TRADE REPOSITORIES AND DERIVATIVES DATA REPORTING 

 
TRADE REPOSITORY SUBMISSION TO 
JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF 

AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS  
 
1. Name of trade repository (the “Trade Repository”): 
 

___________________________________________ ____________________________________ 
 
2. Jurisdiction of incorporation, or equivalent, of Trade Repository: 
 

________________________________________________ _______________________________ 
 
3. Address of principal place of business of Trade Repository: 
 

_______________________________________________________ ________________________ 
 
4. Name of the agent for service of process for the Trade Repository (the “Agent”): 
 

______________________________________________________________ _________________ 
 
5. Address of Agent for service of process in Manitoba: 
 

_____________________________________________________________________ __________ 
 
6. The Trade Repository designates and appoints the Agent as its agent upon whom may be served a notice, 

pleading, subpoena, summons or other process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, quasi-
criminal, penal or other proceeding arising out of or relating to or concerning the activities of the Trade 
Repository in Manitoba. The Trade Repository hereby irrevocably waives any right to challenge service upon its 
Agent as not binding upon the Trade Repository. 

 
7. The Trade Repository agrees to unconditionally and irrevocably attorn to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of (i) the 

courts and administrative tribunals of Manitoba and (ii) any proceeding in any province or territory arising out 
of, related to, concerning or in any other manner connected with the regulation and oversight of the activities of 
the Trade Repository in Ontario. 

 
8. The Trade Repository shall file a new submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service of process 

in this form at least 30 days before the Trade Repository ceases to be designated or exempted by the 
Commission, to be in effect for six years from the date it ceases to be designated or exempted unless otherwise 
amended in accordance with section 9. 

  
9. Until six years after it has ceased to be a designated or exempted by the Commission from the recognition 

requirement under subsection 31.6 of the Act, the Trade Repository shall file an amended submission to 
jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service of process at least 30 days before any change in the name or 
above address of the Agent. 

 
10. This submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service of process shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the laws of Manitoba. 
 
Dated: _________________________________ 

_______________________________________ 
Signature of the Trade Repository 

 
_______________________________________ 

Print name and title of signing  
officer of the Trade Repository 



865

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l

  

AGENT 
 

CONSENT TO ACT AS AGENT FOR SERVICE 
 
I, ________________________  ______________ (name of Agent in full; if Corporation, full Corporate name) 
of __________________________________________(business address), hereby accept the appointment as agent for 
service of process of ______________________________________(insert name of Trade Repository) and hereby 
consent to act as agent for service pursuant to the terms of the appointment executed by _________________
 _____________________ (insert name of Trade Repository) on ______________________________________ 
(insert date). 
 
Dated: ________________________________       ____________  ___________ 

Signature of Agent 
 

 _____________________   
Print name of person signing and, if  
Agent is not an individual, the title  

of the person 
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FORM 91-507F3 
MSC RULE 91-507 – TRADE REPOSITORIES AND DERIVATIVES DATA REPORTING 

 
CESSATION OF OPERATIONS REPORT FOR TRADE REPOSITORY 

  
1.  Identification:  
 

A. Full name of the designated trade repository: 
 
B. Name(s) under which business is conducted, if different from item 1A: 

 
2.  Date designated trade repository proposes to cease carrying on business as a trade repository:  
 
3.  If cessation of business was involuntary, date trade repository has ceased to carry on business as a trade 

repository:  
 
Exhibits 
 
File all Exhibits with the Cessation of Operations Report. For each exhibit, include the name of the trade repository, the 
date of filing of the exhibit and the date as of which the information is accurate (if different from the date of the filing). If 
any Exhibit required is inapplicable, a statement to that effect shall be furnished instead of such Exhibit.  
 
Exhibit A 
 
The reasons for the designated trade repository ceasing to carry on business as a trade repository.  
 
Exhibit B 
 
A list of all derivatives instruments for which data recordkeeping is offered during the last 30 days prior to ceasing 
business as a trade repository.  
 
Exhibit C 
 
A list of all participants who are counterparties to a transaction whose derivatives data is required to be reported pursuant 
to MSC Rule 91-507 – Trade Repositories and Derivatives Data Reporting and for whom the trade repository provided 
services during the last 30 days prior to ceasing business as a trade repository. 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF TRADE REPOSITORY 
 
The undersigned certifies that the information given in this report is true and correct.  
 
DATED at ____________ this ____________ day of _____________________ 20 _____ 
 
____________________    
(Name of trade repository) 
 
_______________________   
(Name of director, officer or partner – please type or print) 
 
_______________________   
(Signature of director, officer or partner) 
 
______________________   
(Official capacity – please type or print) 
 
  2033-50



867

12/14/2013	 l	 The Manitoba Gazette	 l	 Vol. 142 No. 50	 l	 Gazette du Manitoba	 l

UNDER COURT NOTICES

Canada Revenue Agency vs. Vide Menalo
Federal Court File: ITA-5343-12
Amount realized under Writ of Seizure and Sale..........	 $23,045.07
Sheriff’s fees and disbursements..................................	 $1.59
Manitoba Gazette..........................................................	 $31.88
Unsatisfied executions in my hands..............................	 $204,002.30
Winnipeg, November 29, 2013

Charles Camara
Sheriff III

2048-50	 Winnipeg Judicial Centre


